

Acceptance Tests of more than 10 000 Photomultiplier Tubes for the multi-PMT Digital Optical Modules of the IceCube Upgrade

To cite this article: R. Abbasi et al 2024 JINST 19 P07038

View the article online for updates and enhancements.



- Search for Gravitational Waves Associated with Gamma-Ray Bursts Detected by Fermi and Swift during the LIGO-Virgo Run O3b R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott, F. Acernese et al.
- The LHCb Upgrade I R. Aaij, A.S.W. Abdelmotteleb, C. Abellan Beteta et al.
- Muon identification using multivariate techniques in the CMS experiment in proton-proton collisions at sqrt(s) = 13 TeV A. Hayrapetyan, A. Tumasyan, W. Adam et al.



This content was downloaded from IP address 141.52.248.2 on 27/08/2024 at 07:14



PUBLISHED BY IOP PUBLISHING FOR SISSA MEDIALAB



Received: *May 1, 2024* Accepted: *July 10, 2024* Published: *July 29, 2024*

Acceptance Tests of more than 10000 Photomultiplier Tubes for the multi-PMT Digital Optical Modules of the IceCube Upgrade



The IceCube collaboration

E-mail: analysis@icecube.wisc.edu

ABSTRACT: More than 10 000 photomultiplier tubes (PMTs) with a diameter of 80 mm will be installed in multi-PMT Digital Optical Modules (mDOMs) of the IceCube Upgrade. These have been tested and pre-calibrated at two sites. A throughput of more than 1000 PMTs per week with both sites was achieved with a modular design of the testing facilities and highly automated testing procedures. The testing facilities can easily be adapted to other PMTs, such that they can, e.g., be re-used for testing the PMTs for IceCube-Gen2. Single photoelectron response, high voltage dependence, time resolution, prepulse, late pulse, afterpulse probabilities, and dark rates were measured for each PMT. We describe the design of the testing facilities, the testing procedures, and the results of the acceptance tests.

KEYWORDS: Cherenkov detectors; Neutrino detectors; Photon detectors for UV, visible and IR photons (vacuum) (photomultipliers, HPDs, others)

ArXiv ePrint: 2404.19589

Contents

1	Introduction			
2	Obj	ective and performance requirements	2	
3	The testing facilities		3	
	3.1	PMT Mounting	4	
	3.2	Data acquisition	6	
	3.3	Light source system	6	
	3.4	Commissioning	7	
4	Mea	surement procedures	8	
	4.1	SPE Spectra	9	
	4.2	Voltage calibration	11	
	4.3	Photodetection efficiency	11	
	4.4	Discriminator calibration	12	
	4.5	Timing and backgrounds	12	
5	Res	14		
6	Sun	ımary	19	
The IceCube collaboration				

1 Introduction

The IceCube Neutrino Observatory has been operating at the South Pole for more than a decade. IceCube has discovered an all-sky extragalactic flux [1], identified two active galaxies as likely sources [2, 3], and observed neutrinos from the galactic plane [4]. It comprises 5160 optical sensors embedded into the glacial ice sheet at the South Pole, arranged on 86 vertical detector strings [5]. The IceCube Upgrade [6] will dramatically improve measurements of neutrino oscillations with atmospheric neutrinos, provide improved calibration of the optical properties of the glacial ice, and act as a testbed for the next generation of optical modules designed for IceCube-Gen2 [7]. Seven new detector strings of instrumentation will be deployed into the South Pole ice sheet in the 2025/2026 Antarctic Field season. The multi-PMT Digital Optical Module (mDOM) is one of two main optical sensor types deployed in the IceCube Upgrade; the other is the D-Egg [8]. The deployment includes 405 mDOMs with 24 Photomultiplier Tubes (PMTs) each. Including spares, this results in the need to test more than 10 000 PMTs for compliance with performance requirements. Figure 1 shows a technical drawing of an mDOM and one of the PMTs, of type R15458-02, manufactured by Hamamatsu Photonics K.K. [9].

The PMTs are operated with negative high voltage, generated by an active base on the back of each PMT with a 13-stage Cockroft-Walton generator [10]. This approach was chosen because of power requirements and limited space inside the mDOM [11]. The PMTs have ten dynodes; the first



Figure 1. Left: technical drawing of an mDOM. The mDOM houses 24 PMTs in two hemispheres with an outer diameter of 356 mm. The PMTs are mounted to a holding structure and are surrounded by reflector rings. Right: Hamamatsu Photonics K.K. R15458-20 Photomultiplier Tube for the mDOM with a coin for scale. The PMT has a bialkali photocathode with a diameter of 80 mm; the window is made of borosilicate glass.

Cockroft-Walton stage sets the voltage U_{dy10} between the anode and dynode 10, the following nine stages connect to successive dynodes, and the combined last three stages set the voltage between the cathode and dynode 1 [11]. The voltage of each stage falls off progressively towards the photocathode, resulting in a full photocathode-to-anode voltage of $U_{full} = 12 \cdot U_{dy10}$, where U_{dy10} is internally regulated to a value configured via a UART interface [11]. The active bases are designed to reach full voltages $U_{full} \leq 1.5$ kV and were soldered to the back of the PMTs by the manufacturer. The PMT signals are provided to digitizers on the mDOM mainboards via a 50 Ω coax cable [11].

This paper describes the design and commissioning of two testing facilities, illustrates the measurement procedures and the automation strategy, and concludes with the results of the performed testing campaign.

2 Objective and performance requirements

The performance requirements for the mDOM PMTs are listed in table 1; they are largely based on requirements for PMTs in KM3NeT [12, 13]. The requirements include specifications on the temperatures the PMTs can be operated and stored at without impact on their performance, on the supply voltage to reach an amplification gain of $g_{\text{target}} = 5 \times 10^6$, on their sensitivity, pulse characteristics, timing characteristics, and on background rates from dark noise and signal-correlated pulses. Some requirements were only tested on a few tens of PMTs separately from the testing campaign described here because of the technical limitations of the later-described testing facilities. E. g., the size of suitable light sources at a wavelength of $\lambda = 325$ nm was not compatible with the design of our light source system.

Metric	Specification	Tested
Operational Temperature	-45 °C to 30 °C	
Storage Temperature	-60 °C to 50 °C	
Cathode Voltage @ Gain 5×10^6	950 V to 1350 V	\checkmark
	> 7 % @ 325 nm	
Quantum Efficiency	> 25 % @ 380 nm	
	> 15 % @ 500 nm	\checkmark
Mean SPE Amplitude	$> 6 \text{ mV}$ @ Gain 5×10^6 and 50Ω output impedance	
Transit-Time-Spread (σ)	< 2.0 ns with full frontal illumination @ SPE level	\checkmark
Rise Time (10% to 90%)	> 1.0 ns and < 5.0 ns with 100 PE pulse	
SPE Charge Resolution (σ)	$< 0.7 \mathrm{PE}$	\checkmark
Peak-to-Valley-Ratio	> 2.0	\checkmark
Amplitude Linearity (within 10%)	> 100 PE	
Prepulses [-20 ns, -10 ns]	$< 1 \%$ @ 0.2 PE threshold and $-20 \degree$ C	\checkmark
Late Pulses [15 ns, 80 ns]	$<5\%$ @ 0.2 PE threshold and $-20^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	\checkmark
Afterpulses [100 ns, 12 µs]	<15 % @ 0.2 PE threshold and $-20^\circ\mathrm{C}$	\checkmark
Dork Pata	$< 150 \mathrm{Hz} @ 0.2 \mathrm{PE}$ threshold, $t_{\mathrm{dead}} = 100 \mathrm{ns}$,	
Dark Kale	@-20 °C after 5 h in dark	

Table 1. Requirements for mDOM PMT Performance Parameters; they are largely based on requirements for PMTs in KM3NeT [12, 13]. The requirements marked as tested are performed on all PMTs. The other requirements have been tested separately from the primary testing campaign for a few tens of PMTs.

Since removing a faulty PMT from a fully integrated mDOM is practically impossible, the PMTs had to be tested prior to their integration. This implied a high-throughput testing procedure to avoid slowing down the mDOM production. This high throughput was achieved by high parallelization and automation within each of the two testing sites.

To mitigate potentially increased mDOM dark noise rates due to electric potential differences between neighboring PMT photocathodes [14], we aim to minimize the photocathode voltage variance within each mDOM. Therefore, in addition to acceptance testing, a preliminary PMT amplification gain calibration is performed, and the PMTs are sorted into six classes according to their nominal supply voltage for a gain of $g_{nom} = 5 \times 10^6$. All test results are stored in a central database of the IceCube Upgrade project for later use.

3 The testing facilities

The design of the testing facilities has been optimized to perform all tests within fast and highly automated testing cycles. Figure 2 shows a block diagram of the testing facility. The central infrastructure is a light-tight, temperature-controlled dark room within which 92 PMTs are tested simultaneously at -20 °C [15]. The PMTs are mounted in a central rack and are illuminated by a multi-wavelength light source system. Four reference PMTs are used to monitor the illumination levels and long-term stability of the test results [16]. The Data Acquisition (DAQ) system comprises four mDOM mainboards [17] connected to a control server that stores all data. All active electronic components and the light source system are outside the cooling chamber. This reduces performance

changes due to temperature and humidity variations. Special care was taken to make the cooling chamber airtight to avoid condensation from warm air rushing in. During the final production of the mDOMs, the modules are filled with dry nitrogen. Temperatures and humidities inside and outside the chamber were monitored continuously.



Figure 2. Block diagram of the testing facility. The PMTs are mounted in a rack inside a cooling chamber. They are illuminated by a polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) integrating sphere [18], connected to a multi-wavelength light source system. Four mDOM mainboards [17] connected to a control server comprise the Data Acquisition (DAQ) system.

3.1 PMT Mounting

The PMTs are mounted parallelly in a rack inside the cooling room. Figure 3 shows the PMT rack from the front with all PMTs for a test cycle mounted. The PMT rack has eight rows, each equipped with an aluminum mounting rail with twelve PMTs mounted using 3D-printed holders. The mounting of the rails in the rack and of the PMT holders on the rails is designed such that the structures can easily be adapted to different geometries, i.e., to test other PMT models [19]. The mounting system is modular such that PMTs for the next testing cycle can already be mounted onto a second set of rails during ongoing tests, and only the rails need to be exchanged and reconnected inside the cooling room.

Cables are connected to the PMT bases from the back, as shown in figure 4. Wiring harnesses are attached to the back of the mounting rails with 3D-printed clamps, avoiding mis-cabling. Each PMT is identified by a barcode. The positions on the rails, the rails themselves, and the positions within the rack are also equipped with barcode identifiers. We associate PMTs with positions and rails with rack positions whenever a PMT or a rail is moved. During the measurement campaign, this system ensures reliable monitoring of the association between the PMT and the DAQ channel.



Figure 3. Frontside of the PMT Rack in the testing facility. 92 PMTs are mounted; the unoccupied channels are used for synchronization with the light source system. The optical fiber and PTFE integrating sphere are visible and centered in front of the PMT rack. The secondary door in the background is used as a humidity buffer.



Figure 4. Backside of the PMT rack inside the testing facility. Each PMT is connected to an mDOM mainboard with a coaxial and ribbon cable. Each PMT position is marked with a barcode.

3.2 Data acquisition

The data acquisition is realized by four mDOM mainboards that can each support up to 24 PMT channels [17]. Using generic mDOM functionality within the setup reduces cost and complexity and improves the comparability of these tests with the final operation within integrated mDOMs. As a side-effect, the firmware development and mDOM integration have greatly benefited from this extensive use of the specific mDOM DAQ.

Within each mDOM mainboard, the signal is fed through a pulse shaping and amplification circuit and then digitized by a 12-bit ADC at 120 MHz [17]. To improve timing capabilities, an adjustable discriminator on each channel is sampled at 960 MHz [17]. One channel on each mainboard is used to trigger on pulses provided by the light source system, enabling a synchronization of all four boards with the pulsed light emission. The mainboards are connected to a so-called mini-FieldHub [20], an interface between the mainboards and the DAQ PC.

3.3 Light source system

The light source system consists of nanosecond pulse drivers [21], an LED selection system, an optical fiber, and a diffuser. The pulse drivers are controlled by the DAQ PC and drive two LEDs of the same type at wavelengths $\lambda_1 = 375$ nm [22] and one LED at $\lambda_2 = 505$ nm [23]; they also produce a time reference signal synchronous to the light emission. The time jitter of the LED emission is $\delta_{t, \text{LED}} \approx 1$ ns. One pulse driver is tuned to produce very bright pulses in one of the LEDs at $\lambda_1 = 375$ nm [22]; the other pulse drivers are configured to provide dim brightnesses resulting in Single Photoelectron (SPE) levels at the PMTs. Figure 5 shows the LED selection system: the LEDs



Figure 5. The Light Source System at the PMT Testing Facility. LEDs and optional neutral density filters are mounted to a selection wheel steered by stepper motors. The filters can be used to change the pulse intensity. The emitted light is coupled into an optical fiber.

are mounted to a selection wheel controlled by a stepper motor. The produced light is coupled into an optical fiber using a fiber launch assembly. The light is guided through this fiber to a 48 mm diameter PTFE diffuser adapted from the Precision Optical Calibration Module [18], seen on the left of figure 3. The symmetry axis of the diffuser defines the optical axis, which coincides with the closest distance to the PMT rack.

3.4 Commissioning

The amount of light received at each position of the PMT rack had to be calibrated to allow for measurements of PMT photodetection efficiencies. The distance of the PMT to the integrating sphere, the angular emission profile of the integrating sphere, and the inclination angle of the PMTs to the received light front introduce a position dependence to the received brightness. To allow correcting for this, we have calibrated the dependence of the relative brightness on the distance *d* from a PMT to the integrating sphere. The parameterization is given by equation (3.1), where $R_0 = 1.37$ m is the distance between the diffuser and PMT rack and generic parameters *a* and *c*.

$$f_{\rm corr}(d) = a \cdot \left(\frac{R_0}{\sqrt{R_0^2 + d^2}}\right)^c \tag{3.1}$$

The relative illuminations were measured with six PMTs in repeated measurements at different positions and at a constant illumination level. The received brightness was inferred from the number of pulses measured in each PMT. Two PMTs remained at the center of the rack, and the other four were moved through the rack. The PMTs at the center were used as a reference and allowed correcting for possible brightness variations of the light source system. Figure 6 shows the measured relative brightnesses as a function of the distance to the optical axis decreasing by up to 30 % towards the edges. Equation 3.1 was fitted to the data and is used to compute individual correction factors for illumination at each position in the rack; the uncertainty of these correction factors is below 2 %.

To convert the measured relative brightness to a photodetection efficiency, absolutely calibrated reference PMTs are required. The manufacturer provided absolute cathode-current measurements of the full-face quantum efficiencies for 10% of the PMTs. We have selected reference PMTs based on two criteria: long-term PMT gain and photodetection efficiency stability [16]. In every testing cycle, four reference PMTs are used in the PMT rack in randomly selected positions. The reference PMTs were exchanged between the testing facilities to cross-calibrate the amplification gain and dark rate measurements.

Variations in the amplification gain of the analog frontend channels of the mDOM mainboards [17] were calibrated using twelve PMTs moving through the PMT rack, connecting the same PMT to multiple channels. The supply voltages of the PMTs were kept constant, and the PMT amplification gain was measured with SPE spectra. The measured amplification gains were normalized to a channel in the PMT rack, and the absolute scale was calibrated with measurements using a commercial FADC module [24]. This calibration reduces the systematic uncertainty in the measurements of the PMT amplification gains from 6% to less than 2%.



Figure 6. Flat-field illumination correction of the PMT Rack. Each color represents a PMT used in the calibration; the errorbars only contain statistical errors. The grey line shows a fit of equation (3.1) to the data.

4 Measurement procedures

All functions of the testing facility can be controlled by software, allowing for fully automated measurement procedures. The standard procedure of a single measurement cycle is shown in figure 7. A cycle starts with removing the PMTs from the previous testing cycle from the cooling room and installing the prepared mounting rails on which the new PMTs are mounted. After the PMTs are connected to the cables and the door of the cooling room is closed, the software takes over: firmware is flashed to the microcontroller on the PMT base, and the maximum specified high voltage is applied to the PMTs. The calibration measurements are performed once the facility is cooled down to -20 °C. When all measurements have finished, the high voltage is turned off, and the facility is warmed to room temperature. A testing cycle typically lasts just less than 24 h.

The software design follows the structure of the testing cycle: a linear set of tasks is performed, ranging from data-taking and analysis of that data to controlling the facility's temperature and devices. Results are stored in a database. In the following, we describe the data recorded at the facility and the associated analyses.

In standard operation, the PMTs are illuminated by the light source system, and the digitization of the PMT signals is triggered by a pulse synchronized to the pulsed light emission. The generically recorded data structure is a PMT waveform. Figure 8 shows an example waveform with ADC counts calibrated to voltages and the readout of the discriminator output. The baseline level is estimated from the same recorded waveform as the median voltage measured in a time window of 80 ns width, indicated by the red-shaded region, before the expected arrival of light signals. After correction of the baseline level, the charge of the PMT pulse is extracted by integrating over the blue-shaded region of 125 ns width. The length of the integration window has been chosen such that it includes the entire signal, including arrival time variations. With the known input impedance of the amplifier, the integrated voltage is converted to a charge.



Figure 7. Structure of a full PMT testing cycle.



Figure 8. Example recorded waveform of a tested PMT. The blue line is the recorded waveform; the red area is used for estimating the baseline level; the blue area is the charge integration range; the black line is the status of the discriminator output; and the red line is the estimated pulse arrival time. The PMT signal is shaped before digitization on the mDOM mainboard.

4.1 Single-photoelectron spectra

We measure Single-Photoelectron (SPE) spectra by adjusting the brightness of the light source system such that roughly 10 % of the recorded waveforms contain a PMT pulse. The digitization of waveforms is triggered by the synchronization pulse from the light source system; the pulse rate is set to 5 kHz.

The integrated charges of the waveforms are histogrammed. Figure 9 shows an example histogram of the charges from 300 000 recorded waveforms. The pedestal peak at $q_{ped} = 0 \text{ pC}$ consists of waveforms without a PMT pulse, and the peak at $q_{SPE} = 1 \text{ PE} \approx 0.8 \text{ pC}$ is comprised of single photon detections.



Figure 9. An example SPE spectrum of an mDOM PMT is shown in blue. The fit function in equation (4.1) is shown in colored lines. The vertical, dashed lines indicate the valley and SPE peak.

Equation 4.1 is fitted to the histogram for extracting SPE properties [25]. It consists of two templates for differently modeled signal and noise components. The first component represents the pedestal peak, the SPE peak, and peaks of higher order corresponding to multiple photoelectrons. It is represented by a convolution of a Poissonian with normalization *A*, the mean number of detected photons per waveform μ , and a series of Gaussian distributions. The Gaussians are described by the width σ_0 and position q_0 of the pedestal and the width σ_1 and position q_{SPE} of the SPE peak. The positions and widths of higher-order terms are scaled from these parameters. Including the pedestal peak in the fit gives the level of electronic noise in the waveform baselines, which is accounted for in the widths of the following Gaussians, and helps us to constrain the measured μ . The second component describes poorly amplified photoelectrons by a zero-cutoff exponential with normalization *B* and shape τ as free parameters. It is not included in the higher-order terms; the effect on the measured gains and on μ is less than 2%.

$$f(q) = A \cdot \sum_{n=0}^{4} \frac{e^{-\mu} \mu^{n}}{n!} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi \left(\sigma_{0}^{2} + n \cdot \sigma_{\text{SPE}}^{2}\right)}} \exp\left(-\frac{\left(q - q_{0} - n \cdot q_{\text{SPE}}\right)^{2}}{2\left(\sigma_{0}^{2} + n \cdot \sigma_{\text{SPE}}^{2}\right)}\right)$$

$$+ B \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{q}{\tau}\right) \cdot \Theta\left(q\right)$$

$$(4.1)$$

The gain $g = \frac{q_{\text{SPE}}}{e}$ can be directly inferred from the SPE peak position and the elementary charge *e*. The SPE charge resolution $\sigma_{\text{SPE}} = \frac{\sigma_1}{q_{\text{SPE}}}$ is computed as the intrinsic width of the SPE peak normalized to its position. This normalization makes the SPE charge resolution more independent of the chosen PMT amplification gain. The peak-to-valley ratio is calculated from the full function

with the best-fit parameters. The peak-to-valley ratio and SPE charge resolution recorded at the nominal gain are compared to the requirements in table 1.

4.2 Voltage calibration

The gain of the PMT is a function of the high voltage applied to the PMT and the material properties of the dynodes [26]. It typically follows a power law as in equation (4.2).

$$g = c \cdot U_{\rm dy10}^k \tag{4.2}$$

Here, g is the PMT amplification gain, c is a constant, U_{dy10} is the applied high voltage, and k depends on the dynode material and typically is between 0.7 and 0.8 [26].



Figure 10. Example gain calibration curve for an mDOM PMT. The black points are measured gains; the blue line is a fit of equation (4.2) to the data; the horizontal black line indicates the nominal gain of $g_{nom} = 5 \times 10^6$; the vertical red line indicates the extracted nominal voltage $U_{dy10 \text{ nom}}$.

Five SPE spectra at high voltages covering the whole specification range are recorded to calibrate the PMT gain. The gain is extracted for each SPE spectrum, and equation (4.2) is fitted to them as a function of the applied high voltage U_{dy10} . Figure 10 shows an example of such a gain calibration. The nominal voltage $U_{dy10, \text{ nom}}$ is the voltage at which the PMT reaches the nominal gain of $g_{\text{nom}} = 5 \times 10^6$. It is extracted from the power law fit and shown as a red vertical line in figure 10. All following measurements are made with each PMT operating at its individual nominal voltage.

4.3 Photodetection efficiency

The measurement of the quantum efficiency of the PMTs is achieved indirectly: four previously selected reference PMTs with calibrated quantum efficiencies provided by the manufacturer are mounted in the PMT rack for every calibration cycle. The observed fraction of photons detected by each PMT is proportional to quantum efficiency, collection efficiency, and the effective cathode area. Assuming

variations in collection efficiencies and effective cathode areas to be small across the total ensemble of PMTs, we compare detection fractions with those of the reference PMTs. The mean number of detected photoelectrons per waveform μ inferred from the simultaneously measured SPE spectra, see equation (4.1), are corrected for the channel-specific light yield $f_{corr}(d)$ shown in figure 6. Then, the measured quantum efficiency is given by

$$QE_{\rm PMT} = QE_{\rm ref. PMT} \frac{\mu_{\rm PMT}}{f_{\rm corr, PMT}} \frac{f_{\rm corr, ref. PMT}}{\mu_{\rm ref. PMT}}.$$
(4.3)

The median of the measured quantum efficiencies relative to all reference PMTs is compared to the requirements in table 1. This measurement is performed at the wavelengths $\lambda_1 = 375$ nm and $\lambda_2 = 505$ nm.

4.4 Discriminator calibration

Each channel on the mDOM mainboard has a discriminator in the analog frontend [17]. The PMT signal pulse is compared to a reference voltage generated by a DAC. The input of the reference DAC must be calibrated to a charge threshold. After the calibration of the PMT voltage, five SPE spectra with varying DAC input settings are recorded. The top of figure 11 illustrates the extraction of the charge threshold from the ratio of two histograms: one with all waveforms and one with only those waveforms with a discriminator crossing. The charge at which the discriminator is crossed 50 % of the time is converted to units of photoelectrons.

The DAC input settings are fitted with a linear function as a function of the measured charge thresholds, as shown at the bottom of figure 11. The target DAC setting can easily be inferred from the best-fit function. We calibrate the discriminators to a charge threshold of 0.5 PE instead of 0.2 PE as specified in table 1 to avoid triggering on electronic noise introduced by the laboratory environment.

4.5 Timing and backgrounds

The transit-time spread (TTS) is measured using arrival times of PMT pulses relative to the emission time of the photons from the light source system. One channel on each mDOM mainboard receives and digitizes synchronization pulses serving as the time reference. The source brightness is adjusted to the SPE level. The signal arrival time is taken from the discriminator, which was previously calibrated to a threshold of 0.5 PE. In the case of multiple pulses within the waveform, all arrival times are extracted. The PMT arrival times are corrected for the arrival times of the synchronization pulses. Figure 12 shows an example histogram of the corrected arrival times. A Gaussian is fitted to the main peak, and the width σ is extracted. We estimate the influence on the time jitter by the DAQ sampling resolution, the integrating sphere, and variations in signal amplitudes to $\delta_{t, other} \approx 1$ ns. We quadratically subtract these effects and the time jitter of the LED emission ($\delta_{t, LED} \approx 1$ ns) from σ to compute the transit time spread. The main peak position (typically at 65 ns) reflects both the mean transit time and the sum of other propagation delays in the measurement setup.

The arrival time histogram is also used to estimate the prepulse and late pulse fractions. The purple band in figure 12 indicates the prepulse region: it is defined as a window [-20 ns, -10 ns] relative to the main peak maximum; the late pulse region [15 ns, 80 ns] relative to the main peak is shown in beige. The corresponding fractions are computed as the ratio of the number of pulses in those regions relative to the number of pulses arriving in the main transit time distribution marked in green. The



(a) Computation of the charge threshold with SPE spectra recorded at a gain of $g = 5 \times 10^6$. The blue histogram contains all recorded waveforms; the orange histogram contains only waveforms with a discriminator crossing. The red line is the ratio of the histograms; the vertical grey line is the extracted charge threshold; the dashed horizontal line indicates a ratio of 0.5.



(b) Calibration of the DAC input setting to a charge threshold. The blue points are measured charge thresholds for five DAC settings; the orange line is a linear fit to the data; the vertical green line is the target charge threshold of 0.5 PE; the dashed horizontal line indicates the extracted DAC setting.

Figure 11. Example calibration of an mDOM mainboard discriminator.



Figure 12. An example mDOM PMT arrival time distribution, relative to the synchronization signal, is shown in blue. The pink line indicates a Gaussian fit to the peak, which is used to estimate the TTS. The green region is used to count the number of standard SPE pulses; the purple region is used to count prepulses; the beige region is used to count late pulses; the grey region is used to estimate the contribution from dark rate pulses.

contamination from dark rate pulses is estimated in the grey region left of the main peak. The afterpulse fraction is measured similarly with longer waveform readout windows of 12 µs and is not shown here.

The dark pulse rates are measured by counting discriminator threshold crossings on each channel. The discriminator thresholds are calibrated to an equivalent of 0.5 PE to avoid contributions from electronic noise introduced by the laboratory environment. However, the specification for the dark rate requires a lower threshold of 0.2 PE. Therefore, we apply PMT-individual correction factors, which are computed as the ratio of integrals over the SPE peaks in the previously recorded SPE spectra at the nominal voltage starting at 0.2 PE and 0.5 PE.

$$R_{\rm corr} = \frac{\int_{0.2\,\rm PE}^{\infty} f(q) \, dq}{\int_{0.5\,\rm PE}^{\infty} f(q) \, dq} \approx 1.15 \tag{4.4}$$

The number of pulses is counted during 100 measurements of 10 s duration each. Here, pulses occurring less than 100 ns after a count are not also counted (artificial deadtime). The median of these count rates is compared to the requirement in table 1.

5 Results

The above-described measurement program has been performed for all 10 427 PMTs. In the following, we present selected results and discuss the compliance with requirements in table 1.

Figure 13 shows the distribution of measured nominal voltages $U_{dy10, nom}$. The distribution smoothly covers the specified range. The red shaded areas indicate voltages that are outside the specification range. The colored bands show the voltage classes into which the PMTs are sorted. The

small number of PMTs in the distribution's tails outside the specification range are still accepted since no operational problems were observed.



Figure 13. Histogram of measured nominal voltages for all PMTs for a gain of $g = 5.0 \times 10^6$. The red bands indicate the specification region; the other colored bands show the classes the PMTs are sorted into.

The manufacturer provides nominal supply voltages for the entire dynode system. Figure 14 shows a two-dimensional histogram of manufacturer-quoted and measured nominal voltage $U_{dy10, nom}$. The determined nominal voltages correlate strongly with the manufacturer values, indicating a good agreement between both measurements.



Figure 14. Correlation of measured nominal voltages with cathode voltage values reported by the manufacturer (HPK).

Figure 15 shows the distributions of the quantum efficiencies measured at $\lambda_1 = 375$ nm and $\lambda_2 = 505$ nm. The distributions are smooth, and less than 100 PMTs fail to meet the requirements in





(b)

Figure 15. Distributions of measured quantum efficiencies at $\lambda = 375$ nm (top) and $\lambda = 505$ nm (bottom).

Figure 16 shows the distributions of measured SPE charge resolutions and peak-to-valley ratios. Both distributions are smooth, and less than 50 PMTs fail to meet the requirements in table 1.

Figures 17 and 18 show the distributions of measured timing and signal-correlated background performance parameters. The measured transit time spreads peak at 1.7 ns and have a clear edge at the specification boundary. This results from the limited measurement resolution of $\sigma_{\text{TTS}} = 250$ ps for the transit time spread. Retesting failing PMTs can lead to a smaller measured transit time spread complying with the specification; PMTs complying with the specifications are not tested again.



JINST 19 P07038

2024

Figure 16. Distributions of measured SPE charge resolutions (top) and peak-to-valley ratios (bottom).

The measured prepulse, late pulse, and afterpulse fractions are shown in figures 17 and 18. Negative values in the prepulse fractions result from statistical fluctuations in the dark rate corrections in the case of very few measured prepulses which also results in the spikes in the distribution. The measured prepulse fractions are well below 1 %, the late pulse fraction distribution has a mean of 4.1 % with a standard deviation of 0.3 %, and the afterpulse fraction distribution has a mean of 5.4 % with a standard deviation of 3.1 %.

Figure 19 shows the results of the dark rate measurements as a function of the PMT serial number. Most PMTs have dark rates higher than the requirements of ≤ 150 Hz. There is a clear break in the dark rates at the PMT serial number DM01130. The increased dark rates result from increased



Figure 17. Distributions of measured transit time spreads (top) and prepulse fractions (bottom). The edge in the transit time spread distribution results from multiple testing of failed PMTs with limited measurement precision.

concentrations of radioactive materials in the PMT glass [14]. Based on initial measurements of fully assembled mDOMs, we expect a total dark rate per integrated PMT of \sim 750 Hz in deployed modules. This includes radioactive decays in the pressure vessel of the mDOMs. The contributed fraction from the additional noise component amounts to 25 %. This noise increase can be compensated with modifications to the in-module data compression and transfer strategies. Thus, these PMTs were deemed usable and were accepted.

Table 2 shows the number of compliant PMTs for all tested specifications. Except for the dark rates, all non-conforming PMTs are close to the specification boundaries and, therefore, have still been



Figure 18. Distributions of measured late pulse (top) and afterpulse fractions (bottom).

accepted. However, these PMTs will be used in spare mDOMs. We observe a slight enhancement of correlated failures: of the non-compliant 314 PMTs, disregarding the failures in the dark rate, 73 PMTs fail to meet two or more specifications. Five PMTs were found to have more severe communication and performance problems. These PMTs have been sent back to the manufacturer.

6 Summary

We have presented the acceptance tests for the PMTs of the mDOMs of the IceCube Upgrade. The central challenge of 10 427 PMTs being tested on a short timescale has been met with a modular design



Figure 19. Measured dark rates of the mDOM PMTs as a function of PMT serial number. Most PMTs have higher noise rates than originally specified. This results from increased concentrations of radioactive material in the PMT glass.

Specification	# compliant PMTs	# non-compliant PMTs	# accepted PMTs
High Voltage @ Gain 5×10^6	10349	78	10423
Quantum Efficiency	10336	91	10427
TTS (σ)	10255	172	10427
SPE Charge Resolution (σ_{SPE})	10396	31	10427
Peak-to-Valley-Ratio	10390	37	10427
Prepulses	10383	44	10427
Late Pulses	10381	46	10427
Afterpulses	10317	110	10427
Subtotal	10113	314	10423
Dark Rate	351	10076	10426
Total	147	10280	10422

Table 2. Statistics of the PMT testing results. PMTs with failed measurements are included as non-compliant.

of the PMT testing facility and full automation of the testing procedures. The facilities are optimized to provide a high throughput of O(100) PMTs within one day. Two facilities have been constructed, resulting in a throughput of 1000 PMTs per week. With this, the primary testing campaign of all PMTs was accomplished within a few months. We have discussed the measurement strategies for the PMT performance parameters and presented the results. The recorded data were used to decide on the usability of the PMTs in mDOMs; five PMTs have been rejected and sent back to the manufacturer.

The testing facilities have been designed to be adaptable to other PMTs. Two prototype PMTs for the IceCube-Gen2 [7] project, as well as 371 PMTs for the P-ONE [27] project, have successfully been tested at one of the testing facilities [19].

Acknowledgments

The IceCube collaboration acknowledges the significant contributions to this manuscript from Lasse Halve and Johannes Werthebach. We acknowledge the support from the following agencies: U.S.A. -U.S. National Science Foundation-Office of Polar Programs, U.S. National Science Foundation-Physics Division, U.S. National Science Foundation-EPSCoR, U.S. National Science Foundation-Office of Advanced Cyberinfrastructure, Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation, Center for High Throughput Computing (CHTC) at the University of Wisconsin-Madison, Open Science Grid (OSG), Partnership to Advance Throughput Computing (PATh), Advanced Cyberinfrastructure Coordination Ecosystem: Services & Support (ACCESS), Frontera computing project at the Texas Advanced Computing Center, U.S. Department of Energy-National Energy Research Scientific Computing Center, Particle astrophysics research computing center at the University of Maryland, Institute for Cyber-Enabled Research at Michigan State University, Astroparticle physics computational facility at Marquette University, NVIDIA Corporation, and Google Cloud Platform; Belgium — Funds for Scientific Research (FRS-FNRS and FWO), FWO Odysseus and Big Science programmes, and Belgian Federal Science Policy Office (Belspo); Germany — Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF), Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG), Helmholtz Alliance for Astroparticle Physics (HAP), Initiative and Networking Fund of the Helmholtz Association, Deutsches Elektronen Synchrotron (DESY), and High Performance Computing cluster of the RWTH Aachen; Sweden — Swedish Research Council, Swedish Polar Research Secretariat, Swedish National Infrastructure for Computing (SNIC), and Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation; European Union — EGI Advanced Computing for research; Australia — Australian Research Council; Canada — Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Calcul Québec, Compute Ontario, Canada Foundation for Innovation, WestGrid, and Digital Research Alliance of Canada; Denmark — Villum Fonden, Carlsberg Foundation, and European Commission; New Zealand — Marsden Fund; Japan — Japan Society for Promotion of Science (JSPS) and Institute for Global Prominent Research (IGPR) of Chiba University; Korea — National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF); Switzerland — Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF). We acknowledge financial and infrastructure support by RWTH Aachen University and TU Dortmund University.

References

- [1] ICECUBE collaboration, Evidence for High-Energy Extraterrestrial Neutrinos at the IceCube Detector, Science 342 (2013) 1242856 [arXiv:1311.5238].
- [2] ICECUBE collaboration, Evidence for neutrino emission from the nearby active galaxy NGC 1068, Science 378 (2022) 538 [arXiv:2211.09972].
- [3] ICECUBE collaboration, Neutrino emission from the direction of the blazar TXS 0506+056 prior to the IceCube-170922A alert, Science **361** (2018) 147 [arXiv:1807.08794].
- [4] ICECUBE collaboration, Observation of high-energy neutrinos from the Galactic plane, Science **380** (2023) adc9818 [arXiv:2307.04427].
- [5] ICECUBE collaboration, The IceCube Neutrino Observatory: Instrumentation and Online Systems, 2017 JINST 12 P03012 [Erratum ibid. 19 (2024) E05001] [arXiv:1612.05093].
- [6] ICECUBE collaboration, The IceCube Upgrade Design and Science Goals, PoS ICRC2019 (2021) 1031 [arXiv:1908.09441].

- [7] ICECUBE-GEN2 collaboration, *IceCube-Gen2: the window to the extreme Universe*, *J. Phys. G* 48 (2021) 060501 [arXiv:2008.04323].
- [8] ICECUBE collaboration, D-Egg: a dual PMT optical module for IceCube, 2023 JINST 18 P04014 [arXiv:2212.14526].
- [9] M.A.U. Elorrieta, R.S. Busse, L. Classen and A. Kappes, *Homogeneity of the photocathode in the Hamamatsu R15458-02 Photomultiplier Tube*, 2021 *JINST* **16** P11038 [arXiv:2109.13868].
- [10] J.D. Cockcroft and E.T.S. Walton, Experiments with High Velocity Positive Ions. (1) Further Developments in the Method of Obtaining High Velocity Positive Ions, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 136 (1932) 619.
- [11] ICECUBE collaboration, *Design and performance of the multi-PMT optical module for IceCube Upgrade*, *PoS* **ICRC2021** (2021) 1070 [arXiv:2107.11383].
- [12] KM3NET collaboration, Characterisation of the Hamamatsu photomultipliers for the KM3NeT Neutrino Telescope, 2018 JINST 13 P05035.
- [13] M.A. Unland Elorrieta et al., *Characterisation of the Hamamatsu R12199-01 HA MOD photomultiplier* tube for low temperature applications, 2019 JINST **14** P03015 [arXiv:1902.01714].
- M.A. Unland Elorrieta, Development, simulation, and characterization of a novel multi-PMT optical module for IceCube Upgrade with emphasis on detailed understanding of photomultiplier performance parameters, Ph.D. thesis, Universität Münster, Münster, Germany (2023).
 [D0I:10.5281/zenodo.8121321].
- [15] ICECUBE collaboration, Design of an Efficient, High-Throughput Photomultiplier Tube Testing Facility for the IceCube Upgrade, PoS ICRC2021 (2021) 1056 [arXiv:2107.09954].
- [16] J. Savelberg, Charakterisierung von Referenz-Photomultipliern für die Akzeptanzprüfung von PMTs für die mDOMs des IceCube Upgrades, B.Sc. thesis, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany (2021).
- [17] ICECUBE collaboration, Design and Performance of the mDOM Mainboard for the IceCube Upgrade, PoS ICRC2023 (2023) 967.
- [18] F. Henningsen et al., A self-monitoring precision calibration light source for large-volume neutrino telescopes, 2020 JINST 15 P07031 [arXiv:2005.00778].
- [19] L.Y. Halve, *Validation of optical sensors for the mDOM of the IceCube Upgrade*, Ph.D. thesis, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany (2024).
- [20] ICECUBE collaboration, *Characterization and testing of the IceCube Upgrade mDOM*, *PoS* **ICRC2023** (2023) 1183.
- [21] M. Rongen and M. Schaufel, Design and evaluation of a versatile picosecond light pulser, 2018 JINST 13 P06002 [arXiv:1805.00822].
- [22] Roithner LaserTechnik GmbH, XRL-375-3E Data Sheet (2014).
- [23] Roithner LaserTechnik GmbH, B3B-443-B505 Data Sheet (2010).
- [24] CAEN Electronic Instrumentation, CAEN 730 Digitizer Family Datasheet (2019).
- [25] E.H. Bellamy et al., Absolute calibration and monitoring of a spectrometric channel using a photomultiplier, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A **339** (1994) 468.
- [26] Hamamatsu Photonics K.K., Photomultiplier Tubes Basics and Applications (2017).
- [27] P-ONE collaboration, The Pacific Ocean Neutrino Experiment, Nature Astron. 4 (2020) 913 [arXiv:2005.09493].

The IceCube collaboration

R. Abbasi¹⁶, M. Ackermann⁶⁴, J. Adams¹⁷, S.K. Agarwalla^{39,a}, J.A. Aguilar¹¹, M. Ahlers²¹, J.M. Alameddine²², N.M. Amin⁴³, K. Andeen⁴¹, G. Anton²⁵, C. Argüelles¹³, Y. Ashida⁵², S. Athanasiadou⁶⁴, L. Ausborm⁰, S.N. Axani⁴³, X. Bai⁴⁹, A. Balagopal V.³⁹, M. Baricevic³⁹, S.W. Barwick²⁹, S. Bash²⁶, V. Basu³⁹, R. Bay⁷, J.J. Beatty^{19,20}, J. Becker Tjus^{10,b}, J. Beise⁶², C. Bellenghi²⁶, C. Benning⁰, S. BenZvi⁵¹, D. Berley¹⁸, E. Bernardini⁴⁷, D.Z. Besson³⁵, E. Blaufuss¹⁸, L. Bloom⁵⁹, S. Blot⁶⁴, F. Bontempo³⁰, J.Y. Book Motzkin¹³, C. Boscolo Meneguolo⁴⁷, S. Böser⁴⁰, O. Botner⁶², J. Böttcher⁰, J. Braun³⁹, B. Brinson⁵, J. Brostean-Kaiser⁶⁴, L. Brusa⁰, R.T. Burley¹, D. Butterfield³⁹, M.A. Campana⁴⁸, I. Caracas⁴⁰, K. Carloni¹³, J. Carpio^{33,34}, S. Chattopadhyay^{39,a}, N. Chau¹¹, Z. Chen⁵⁵, D. Chirkin³⁹, S. Choi^{56,57}, B.A. Clark¹⁸, A. Coleman⁶², G.H. Collin¹⁴, A. Connolly^{19,20}, J.M. Conrad¹⁴, P. Coppin¹², R. Corley⁵², P. Correa¹², D.F. Cowen^{60,61}, P. Dave⁵, C. De Clercq¹², J.J. DeLaunay⁵⁹, D. Delgado¹³, S. Deng⁰, A. Desai³⁹, P. Desiati³⁹, K.D. de Vries¹², G. de Wasseige³⁶, T. DeYoung²³, A. Diaz¹⁴, J.C. Díaz-Vélez³⁹, P. Dierichs⁰, M. Dittmer⁴², A. Domi²⁵, L. Draper⁵², H. Dujmovic³⁹, K. Dutta⁴⁰, M.A. DuVernois³⁹, T. Ehrhardt⁴⁰, L. Eidenschink²⁶, A. Eimer²⁵, P. Eller²⁶, E. Ellinger⁶³, S. El Mentawi⁰, D. Elsässer²², R. Engel^{30,31}, H. Erpenbeck³⁹, J. Evans¹⁸, P.A. Evenson⁴³, K.L. Fan¹⁸, K. Fang³⁹, K. Farrag¹⁵, A.R. Fazely⁶, A. Fedynitch⁵⁸, N. Feigl⁹, S. Fiedlschuster²⁵, C. Finley⁵⁴, L. Fischer⁶⁴, D. Fox⁶⁰, A. Franckowiak¹⁰, S. Fukami⁶⁴, P. Fürst⁰, J. Gallagher³⁸, E. Ganster⁰, A. Garcia¹³, M. Garcia⁴³, G. Garg^{39,a}, E. Genton^{13,36}, L. Gerhardt⁸, A. Ghadimi⁵⁹, C. Girard-Carillo⁴⁰, C. Glaser⁶², T. Glüsenkamp^{25,62}, J.G. Gonzalez⁴³, S. Goswami^{33,34}, A. Granados²³, D. Grant²³, S.J. Gray¹⁸, O. Gries⁰, S. Griffin³⁹, S. Griswold⁵¹, K.M. Groth²¹, C. Günther⁰, P. Gutjahr²², C. Ha⁵³, C. Haack²⁵, A. Hallgren⁶², R. Halliday²³, L. Halve⁰, F. Halzen³⁹, H. Hamdaoui⁵⁵, M. Ha Minh²⁶, M. Handt⁰, K. Hanson³⁹, J. Hardin¹⁴, A.A. Harnisch²³, P. Hatch³², A. Haungs³⁰, J. Häußler⁰, K. Helbing⁶³, J. Hellrung¹⁰, J. Hermannsgabner⁰, L. Heuermann⁰, N. Heyer⁶², S. Hickford⁶³, A. Hidvegi⁵⁴, C. Hill¹⁵, G.C. Hill¹, K.D. Hoffman¹⁸, S. Hori³⁹, K. Hoshina^{39, c}, M. Hostert¹³, W. Hou³⁰, T. Huber³⁰, K. Hultqvist⁵⁴, M. Hünnefeld²², R. Hussain³⁹, K. Hymon²², A. Ishihara¹⁵, W. Iwakiri¹⁵, M. Jacquart³⁹, O. Janik²⁵, M. Jansson⁵⁴, G.S. Japaridze⁴, M. Jeong⁵², M. Jin¹³, B.J.P. Jones³, R. Joppe⁰, N. Kamp¹³, D. Kang³⁰, W. Kang⁵⁶, X. Kang⁴⁸, A. Kappes⁴², D. Kappesser⁴⁰, L. Kardum²², T. Karg⁶⁴, M. Karl²⁶, A. Karle³⁹, A. Katil²⁴, U. Katz²⁵, M. Kauer³⁹, J.L. Kelley³⁹, M. Khanal⁵², A. Khatee Zathul³⁹, A. Kheirandish^{33,34}, J. Kiryluk⁵⁵, A. Kochocki²³, R. Koirala⁴³, H. Kolanoski⁹, T. Kontrimas²⁶, L. Köpke⁴⁰, C. Kopper²⁵, D.J. Koskinen²¹, M. Kossatz⁶⁴, P. Koundal⁴³, M. Kovacevich⁴⁸, M. Kowalski^{9,64}, T. Kozynets²¹, J. Krishnamoorthi^{39,a}, K. Kruiswijk³⁶, E. Krupczak²³, A. Kumar⁶⁴, E. Kun¹⁰, N. Kurahashi⁴⁸, N. Lad⁶⁴, C. Lagunas Gualda⁶⁴, M. Lamoureux³⁶, M.J. Larson¹⁸, S. Latseva⁰, F. Lauber⁶³, J.P. Lazar³⁶, J.W. Lee⁵⁶, K. Leonard DeHolton⁶¹, A. Leszczyńska⁴³, J. Liao⁵, M. Lincetto¹⁰, Y.T. Liu⁶¹, M. Liubarska²⁴, E. Lohfink⁴⁰, C. Love⁴⁸, C.J. Lozano Mariscal⁴², L. Lu³⁹, F. Lucarelli²⁷, W. Luszczak^{19,20}, Y. Lyu^{7,8}, J. Madsen³⁹, E. Magnus¹², K.B.M. Mahn²³, Y. Makino³⁹, E. Manao²⁶, S. Mancina^{39,47}, W. Marie Sainte³⁹, I.C. Mariş¹¹, S. Marka⁴⁵, Z. Marka⁴⁵, M. Marsee⁵⁹, I. Martinez-Soler¹³, R. Maruyama⁴⁴, F. Mayhew²³, F. McNally³⁷, J.V. Mead²¹, K. Meagher³⁹, S. Mechbal⁶⁴, A. Medina²⁰, M. Meier¹⁵, Y. Merckx¹², L. Merten¹⁰, J. Micallef²³, J. Mitchell⁶, T. Montaruli²⁷, R.W. Moore²⁴, Y. Morii¹⁵, R. Morse³⁹, M. Moulai³⁹, T. Mukherjee³⁰, R. Naab⁶⁴, R. Nagai¹⁵, M. Nakos³⁹, U. Naumann⁶³, J. Necker⁶⁴, A. Negi³, L. Neste⁵⁴, M. Neumann⁴², H. Niederhausen²³, M.U. Nisa²³, K. Noda¹⁵, A. Noell⁰, A. Novikov⁴³, A. Obertacke Pollmann¹⁵, V. O'Dell³⁹, B. Oeyen²⁸, A. Olivas¹⁸, R. Orsoe²⁶, J. Osborn³⁹, E. O'Sullivan⁶², H. Pandya⁴³, N. Park³², G.K. Parker³, E.N. Paudel⁴³, L. Paul⁴⁹, C. Pérez de los Heros⁶², T. Pernice⁶⁴, J. Peterson³⁹, S. Philippen⁰, A. Pizzuto³⁹, M. Plum⁴⁹, A. Pontén⁶², Y. Popovych⁴⁰, M. Prado Rodriguez³⁹, B. Pries²³, R. Procter-Murphy¹⁸, G.T. Przybylski⁸, C. Raab³⁶, J. Rack-Helleis⁴⁰, M. Ravn⁶², K. Rawlins², Z. Rechav³⁹, A. Rehman⁴³, P. Reichherzer¹⁰, E. Resconi²⁶, S. Reusch⁶⁴, W. Rhode²², B. Riedel³⁹, A. Rifaie⁰, E.J. Roberts¹, S. Robertson^{7,8}, S. Rodan^{56,57}, G. Roellinghoff⁵⁶,

M. Rongen²⁵, A. Rosted¹⁵, C. Rott^{52,56}, T. Ruhe²², L. Ruohan²⁶, D. Ryckbosch²⁸, I. Safa³⁹, J. Saffer³¹, D. Salazar-Gallegos²³, P. Sampathkumar³⁰, A. Sandrock⁶³, M. Santander⁵⁹, S. Sarkar²⁴, S. Sarkar⁴⁶, J. Savelberg⁰, P. Savina³⁹, P. Schaile²⁶, M. Schaufel⁰, H. Schieler³⁰, S. Schindler²⁵, B. Schlüter⁴², F. Schlüter¹¹, N. Schmeisser⁶³, T. Schmidt¹⁸, J. Schneider²⁵, F.G. Schröder^{30,43}, L. Schumacher²⁵, S. Sclafani¹⁸, D. Seckel⁴³, M. Seikh³⁵, M. Seo⁵⁶, S. Seunarine⁵⁰, P. Sevle Myhr³⁶, R. Shah⁴⁸, S. Shefali³¹, N. Shimizu¹⁵, M. Silva³⁹, B. Skrzypek⁷, B. Smithers³, R. Snihur³⁹, J. Soedingrekso²², A. Søgaard²¹, D. Soldin⁵², P. Soldin⁰, G. Sommani¹⁰, C. Spannfellner²⁶, G.M. Spiczak⁵⁰, C. Spiering⁶⁴, M. Stamatikos²⁰, T. Stanev⁴³, T. Stezelberger⁸, T. Stürwald⁶³, T. Stuttard²¹, K.H. Sulanke⁶⁴, G.W. Sullivan¹⁸, I. Taboada⁵, S. Ter-Antonyan⁶, A. Terliuk²⁶, M. Thiesmeyer⁰, W.G. Thompson¹³, J. Thwaites³⁹, S. Tilav⁴³, K. Tollefson²³, C. Tönnis⁵⁶, S. Toscano¹¹, D. Tosi³⁹, A. Trettin⁶⁴, R. Turcotte³⁰, J.P. Twagirayezu²³, M.A. Unland Elorrieta⁴², A.K. Upadhyay^{39,a}, K. Upshaw⁶, A. Vaidvanathan⁴¹, N. Valtonen-Mattila⁶², J. Vandenbroucke³⁹, N. van Eiindhoven¹², D. Vannerom¹⁴, J. van Santen⁶⁴, J. Vara⁴², J. Veitch-Michaelis³⁹, M. Venugopal³⁰, M. Vereecken³⁶, S. Verpoest⁴³, D. Veske⁴⁵, A. Vijai¹⁸, C. Walck⁵⁴, A. Wang⁵, C. Weaver²³, P. Weigel¹⁴, A. Weindl³⁰, J. Weldert⁶¹, A.Y. Wen¹³, C. Wendt³⁹, J. Werthebach²², M. Weyrauch³⁰, N. Whitehorn²³, C.H. Wiebusch⁰, D.R. Williams⁵⁹, L. Witthaus²², A. Wolf⁰, M. Wolf²⁶, G. Wrede²⁵, X.W. Xu⁶, J.P. Yanez²⁴, E. Yildizci³⁹, S. Yoshida¹⁵, R. Young³⁵, S. Yu⁵², T. Yuan³⁹, Z. Zhang⁵⁵, P. Zhelnin¹³, P. Zilberman³⁹, M. Zimmerman³⁹

- ⁰ III. Physikalisches Institut, RWTH Aachen University, D-52056 Aachen, Germany
- ¹ Department of Physics, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, 5005, Australia
- ² Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Alaska Anchorage, 3211 Providence Dr., Anchorage, AK 99508, U.S.A.
- ³ Department of Physics, University of Texas at Arlington, 502 Yates St., Science Hall Rm 108, Box 19059, Arlington, TX 76019, U.S.A.
- ⁴ CTSPS, Clark-Atlanta University, Atlanta, GA 30314, U.S.A.
- ⁵ School of Physics and Center for Relativistic Astrophysics, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA 30332, U.S.A.
- ⁶ Department of Physics, Southern University, Baton Rouge, LA 70813, U.S.A.
- ⁷ Department of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.
- ⁸ Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.
- ⁹ Institut für Physik, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, D-12489 Berlin, Germany
- ¹⁰ Fakultät für Physik & Astronomie, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, D-44780 Bochum, Germany
- ¹¹ Université Libre de Bruxelles, Science Faculty CP230, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium
- ¹² Vrije Universiteit Brussel (VUB), Dienst ELEM, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium
- ¹³ Department of Physics and Laboratory for Particle Physics and Cosmology, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, U.S.A.
- ¹⁴ Department of Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, U.S.A.
- ¹⁵ Department of Physics and The International Center for Hadron Astrophysics, Chiba University, Chiba 263-8522, Japan
- ¹⁶ Department of Physics, Loyola University Chicago, Chicago, IL 60660, U.S.A.
- ¹⁷ Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Canterbury, Private Bag 4800, Christchurch, New Zealand
- ¹⁸ Department of Physics, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, U.S.A.
- ¹⁹ Department of Astronomy, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, U.S.A.
- ²⁰ Department of Physics and Center for Cosmology and Astro-Particle Physics, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, U.S.A.
- ²¹ Niels Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, DK-2100 Copenhagen, Denmark
- ²² Department of Physics, TU Dortmund University, D-44221 Dortmund, Germany
- ²³ Department of Physics and Astronomy, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824, U.S.A.
- ²⁴ Department of Physics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, T6G 2E1, Canada
- ²⁵ Erlangen Centre for Astroparticle Physics, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, D-91058 Erlangen, Germany
- ²⁶ Physik-department, Technische Universität München, D-85748 Garching, Germany

- ²⁷ Département de physique nucléaire et corpusculaire, Université de Genève, CH-1211 Genève, Switzerland
- ²⁸ Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Gent, B-9000 Gent, Belgium
- ²⁹ Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of California, Irvine, CA 92697, U.S.A.
- ³⁰ Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Institute for Astroparticle Physics, D-76021 Karlsruhe, Germany
- ³¹ Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Institute of Experimental Particle Physics, D-76021 Karlsruhe, Germany
- ³² Department of Physics, Engineering Physics, and Astronomy, Queen's University, Kingston, ON K7L 3N6, Canada
- ³³ Department of Physics & Astronomy, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, NV 89154, U.S.A.
- ³⁴ Nevada Center for Astrophysics, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, NV 89154, U.S.A.
- ³⁵ Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Kansas, Lawrence, KS 66045, U.S.A.
- ³⁶ Centre for Cosmology, Particle Physics and Phenomenology CP3, Université catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium
- ³⁷ Department of Physics, Mercer University, Macon, GA 31207-0001, U.S.A.
- ³⁸ Department of Astronomy, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI 53706, U.S.A.
- ³⁹ Department of Physics and Wisconsin IceCube Particle Astrophysics Center, University of Wisconsin—Madison, Madison, WI 53706, U.S.A.
- ⁴⁰ Institute of Physics, University of Mainz, Staudinger Weg 7, D-55099 Mainz, Germany
- ⁴¹ Department of Physics, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI 53201, U.S.A.
- ⁴² Institut für Kernphysik, Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, D-48149 Münster, Germany
- ⁴³ Bartol Research Institute and Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Delaware, Newark, DE 19716, U.S.A.
- ⁴⁴ Department of Physics, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06520, U.S.A.
- ⁴⁵ Columbia Astrophysics and Nevis Laboratories, Columbia University, New York, NY 10027, U.S.A.
- ⁴⁶ Department of Physics, University of Oxford, Parks Road, Oxford OX1 3PU, United Kingdom
- ⁴⁷ Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia Galileo Galilei, Università Degli Studi di Padova, I-35122 Padova PD, Italy
- ⁴⁸ Department of Physics, Drexel University, 3141 Chestnut Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104, U.S.A.
- ⁴⁹ Physics Department, South Dakota School of Mines and Technology, Rapid City, SD 57701, U.S.A.
- ⁵⁰ Department of Physics, University of Wisconsin, River Falls, WI 54022, U.S.A.
- ⁵¹ Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Rochester, Rochester, NY 14627, U.S.A.
- ⁵² Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT 84112, U.S.A.
- ⁵³ Department of Physics, Chung-Ang University, Seoul 06974, Republic of Korea
- ⁵⁴ Oskar Klein Centre and Department of Physics, Stockholm University, SE-10691 Stockholm, Sweden
- ⁵⁵ Department of Physics and Astronomy, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794-3800, U.S.A.
- ⁵⁶ Department of Physics, Sungkyunkwan University, Suwon 16419, Republic of Korea
- ⁵⁷ Institute of Basic Science, Sungkyunkwan University, Suwon 16419, Republic of Korea
- ⁵⁸ Institute of Physics, Academia Sinica, Taipei, 11529, Taiwan
- ⁵⁹ Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, AL 35487, U.S.A.
- ⁶⁰ Department of Astronomy and Astrophysics, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, U.S.A.
- ⁶¹ Department of Physics, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, U.S.A.
- ⁶² Department of Physics and Astronomy, Uppsala University, Box 516, SE-75120 Uppsala, Sweden
- ⁶³ Department of Physics, University of Wuppertal, D-42119 Wuppertal, Germany
- ⁶⁴ Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Platanenallee 6, D-15738 Zeuthen, Germany
- ^a also at Institute of Physics, Sachivalaya Marg, Sainik School Post, Bhubaneswar 751005, India
- ^b also at Department of Space, Earth and Environment, Chalmers University of Technology, 412 96 Gothenburg, Sweden
- ^c also at Earthquake Research Institute, University of Tokyo, Bunkyo, Tokyo 113-0032, Japan